

NOTICE OF MEETING

Standing Advisory Committee for Religious Education

THURSDAY, 23RD MARCH, 2006 at 19:00 HRS - CIVIC CENTRE, HIGH ROAD, WOOD GREEN, LONDON N22 8LE.

Group A: Christian Denominations and other Faiths represented in Haringey:

Vacancy (Salvation Army FCFC), Ms S Berkery-Smith (Diocese of Westminster (RC), Mr M. Ibrahim (Muslim Educational Trust), Mr Alli (North London Islamic Cultural Society), Rabbi D Lister (Board of Deputies of British Jews), Mr Barnabus Mishi (Greek Orthodox), Ms B Parsons (Spiritual Assembly of the Bahai's), Vacancy (North London Buddhist Centre), Mr K Ranganathan (Hindu (Shiva) Temple Trust), Jenny Stonhold (United Reformed Church), Rev R Allaway (Baptist Churches), Vacancy (Quaker), Ms M Huntley (Methodist) Vacancy (Seventh Day Adventists), Peter Adeniyi (Pentecostal Churches).

Group B: Church of England:

Mr E Griffith, Mrs J Jamieson, Mr G Mariner, Revd Canon A Dangerfield, Miss C Goymer, Revd Dr Jonathan Trigg.

Group C: Professional Associations:

Ms N Parmar (NUT), Mr N Bradley (NUT), Ms J Arrowsmith (NUT), Aurelie Bivigou (NUT), Mr A Yarrow (SHA), Brumi Otobushin (NASUWT)

Group D: Local Education Authority Group:

Cllr Haley, Cllr Aitken, Jennifer James, Livinius Emmanuel Onyearugbulem.

Co-opted Non-Voting Members:

Mr N Bacrac (British Humanist Association), Mr P Dighton (Jehovah's Witness).

AGENDA

- 1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE (IF ANY)
- 2. ITEMS OF URGENT BUSINESS (TO BE CONSIDERED AT ITEM 9)
- 3. **MINUTES (PAGES 1 4)**

To confirm the minutes of the meeting hel on 15 December 2005 and any matters arising

- 4. FEEDBACK FROM HOLOCAUST MEMORIAL DAY EVENTS
- 5. MEMBERSHIP UPDATE

The Clerk to SACRE would like to welcome Ms Sara Joy Leviten to Haringey's SACRE

6. NASACRE CONFERENCE

Feedback from RE Advisor to SACRE

7. BISHOP OF PORTSMOUTH'S PREFACE TO EXCELLENCE AND DISTINCTIVENESS (PAGES 5 - 8)

SACRE will need to consider the implications of this for the work of an Agreed Syllabus Conference

- 8. FEEDBACK FROM THE LONDON SACRE'S MEETING ON 20 MARCH 2006
- 9. RELIGIOUS EDUCATION IN PRIMARY AND SECONDARY SCHOOLS OFSTED REPORTS ATTACHED

www.ofsted.gov.uk/publications/annual report0405/curiculum reports.html

- 10. OFSTED RACE EQUALITY PAPER (PAGES 9 42)
- 11. ISLAM EXPO EXHIBITION (PAGES 43 50)
- 12. APPOINTMENT FOR A SACRE REPRESENTATIVE FOR THE HARINGEY PARENTAL AND COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT STRATEGIC STEERING GROUP
- 13. INFORMATION EXCHANGE BETWEEN SACRES

Proposal form Barnet SACRE

14. HARINGEY AGREED SYLLABUS SURVEY

Analysis and feedback from the RE Advisor to SACRE

15. ITEMS OF URGENT BUSINESS

16. DATE OF NEXT MEETING - 21 JUNE 2006

Yuniea Semambo Head of Member Services 5th Floor River Park House 225 High Road Wood Green London N22 8HQ Julie Harris Principal Support Officer (Council) Tel No: 020 8489 2957 Fax No: 0208 489 2660 Email: julie.harris@haringey.gov.uk



MINUTES OF HARINGEY STANDING ADVISORY COUNCIL FOR RELIGIOUS EDUCATION (SACRE) 15 December 2005

Group A: Christian Denominations and other Faiths represented in Haringey:

Vacancy (Salvation Army FCFC), Ms S Berkery-Smith (Diocese of Westminster (RC), Mr M. Ibrahim (Muslim Educational Trust), Mr Alli (North London Islamic Cultural Society), Rabbi D Lister (Board of Deputies of British Jews), Mr Barnabus Mishi (Greek Orthodox), Ms B Parsons (Spiritual Assembly of the Bahai's), Karuna Gita (North London Buddhist Centre), Mr K Ranganathan (Hindu (Shiva) Temple Trust), Jenny Stonhold (United Reformed Church), Rev R Allaway (Baptist Churches), Vacancy (Quaker), Ms M Huntley (Methodist) Vacancy (Seventh Day Adventists), Peter Adeniyi (Pentecostal Churches).

Group B: Church of England:

Vacancy, Mrs J Jamieson, Mr G Mariner, Revd Canon A Dangerfield, Miss C Goymer, Revd Dr Jonathan Trigg.

Group C: Professional Associations:

Ms N Parmar (NUT), Mr N Bradley (NUT), Ms J Arrowsmith (NUT), Aurelie Bivigou (NUT), Mr A Yarrow (SHA), Brumi Otobushin (NASUWT), Vacancy (NAHT).

Group D: Local Education Authority Group:

Cllr Haley, Cllr Aitken, Jennifer James, Livinius Emmanuel Onyearugbulem.

Co-opted Non-Voting Members:

Mr N Bacrac (British Humanist Association), Mr P Dighton (Jehovah's Witness).

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

Apologies were received from Mrs Berkery-Smith, Ms Karuna Gita, Ms Naina Parmar, Ms Aurelie Bivigou. Mr Paul Dighton was represented at this meeting by Mr Tony Hall.

Members were advised of the new Bhuddist Member, Ms Karuna Gita, who was unable to attend tonight's meeting. Mr Haylock of the Salvation Army had resigned since the last meeting and a replacement had been sought.

Denise Chaplin, the RE Advisor to SACRE was recovering from an operation so it was therefore agreed to defer items 8, 10 and 15 to the next meeting. Members noted that items 11 and 14 were also information items and they were asked to consider these for the next meeting on 23rd March 2006

2. URGENT BUSINESS

The Chair advised members that the Faith Directory had been launched on 14th December and was now live on the website. However, following the oil fire at Hemel Hempstead the previous weekend, which was in close proximity to Northgate (Haringey's IT Support Company) there had been some disruptions to the internet service. Members were encouraged to feed back any comments to Leon Joseph.

The Clerk to SACRE advised members that all SACRE reports and agenda were now loaded onto Haringey's website, back to 2002.

Members had been circulated a letter from NASACRE about the Young Inter-faiths project and were invited to bid by 7 April 2006.

3. MINUTES OF THE MEETING 29 SEPTEMBER 2005

The minutes of the above meetings were agreed and signed by the Chair.

4. MATTERS ARISING

None

5. UPDATE ON HOLOCAUST MEMORIAL DAY

Members were advised that as part of the Holocaust Memorial events a showing of 'Hotel Rwanda' would be screened at Cineworld, Wood Green. It was hoped that the actress who featured in the film and Holocaust survivors would also be at the screening to answer questions from secondary school students. There would also be an exhibit of 'I never saw another butterfly'. Members noted that there were links from both the SACRE and RE Teachers' websites to the Rwanda Genocide.

6 DRAFT ANNUAL REPORT

The report was agreed with a few minor amendments. These would be finalised by the Clerk and the report submitted to QCA by the end of term. Members commented and praised the Chair's letter as they felt it encompassed the key points of the report.

It was suggested that individual schools' results could be detailed for GCSE and A levels next year.

7. SACRES A SELF-EVALUATION – A GUIDE FROM OFSTED

The report was agreed with a few minor amendments.

8. HARINGEY AGREED SYLLABUS SURVEY

Feedback and analysis to be deferred to the next meeting.

9. PROPOSALS FOR A NATIONAL RE STRATEGY

Mr Ibrahim of the Muslim Educational Trust introduced this item and advised members that the Draft Strategy was currently with the DfES, awaiting feedback from stakeholders. Members agreed that the report was well-written and thought provoking with a strong message about social cohesion and addressed recurrent issues. Members were advised that HMI Inspectors were no longer just inspecting RE; so their resources would become stretched. However, RE would soon be subject to national inspection and members felt that it would be useful to have models and examples of good practice.

10. DEVELOPING AN INDUCTION PROCESS FOR NEW SACRE MEMBERS

An induction pack for new members had been agreed; comprising the Booklet 'So You're Joining your Local SACRE'; the Non-Statutory National Framework and the Agreed Syllabus (available on CD-ROM).

11. PRIMARY AND SECONDARY SUBJECT REPORTS

Members were asked to consider this report for the next meeting.

12. FEEDBACK ON THE PCFRE CONFERENCE AND NASACRE CONFERENCE

Chair's comments were tabled for members.

13. MUSLIM BOOKS FOR SCHOOLS

The meeting was adjourned to give members the opportunity to consider these resources which were on display at the meeting.

The Education Advisor to SACRE advised member that these books had been vetted by the Muslim Council. They aimed to counter misconceptions and 'Islam-phobia' and widen the knowledge of other faiths. Officers had recommended that schools purchase their own copies of these books and that a set be available in the school library service. Members suggested that a list of the books be placed on the web site with a 'Frequently Asked Questions' page. The books were targeted at key stage 2 (7-11 year olds) and possibly 11-12 year olds.

14. OFSTED RACE EQUALITY PAPER

Members were asked to consider this report for the next meeting.

15. INFORMATION EXCHANGE BETWEEN SACRES

Item deferred to the next meeting

16. DATE OF NEXT MEETING and agenda items:

23 March 2006:

- Update on the Holocaust Memorial Day Events
- Haringey Agreed Syllabus Survey
- Developing an Induction Process for New SACRE Members
- Primary and Secondary Subject Reports
- Ofsted Race Equality Paper
- Information Exchange between SACRES

USEFUL CONTACTS

Jennifer.James@Haringey.gov.uk Julie.Harris@Haringey.gov.uk Denise.Chaplin@btinternet.com Leon.Joseph@Haringey.gov.uk

Signed

CHAIR OF SACRE

DATE

Excellence and distinctiveness

Guidance on RE in Church of England schools





Ever since the introduction of the National Curriculum in 1988 Religious Education has suffered for lack of a nationally accepted standard. The subjects within the National Curriculum have seen gains in status and in national development funding that have been lacking for RE. The Church of England, along with many other organisations in the world of RE, has been pressing for action to redress this imbalance for many years.

In October 2003 Charles Clarke, then Secretary of State for Education, held a consultation with a large number of faith leaders, including representatives of the Church of England, which yielded the clear result that they would work together with a group of teachers, academics, advisers, inspectors and consultants to produce a National Framework for RE. The Qualifications and Curriculum Authority was commissioned to coordinate this task.

The resulting non-statutory Framework, which had the full support of the Church of England representatives, was published by QCA in October 2004. Although Charles Clarke moved to be Home Secretary in December 2004, we shall hold the government to their commitment to resource the Framework adequately with a continuing programme of financial and professional support. We look for the National Framework to become the kite-mark for quality RE.

The primary audience for the National Framework is the Local Authority Agreed Syllabus Conferences and those responsible for setting the RE curriculum in faith-based schools. The Board of Education has decided that the new Framework should underpin RE in all church schools. The best means of achieving this would be for all Church of England schools to adopt their locally agreed syllabus, provided it has been produced on the basis of the National Framework for RE. That is a matter on which Diocesan Boards of Education will advise their schools.

This Guidance for the Church of England in implementing the Framework is supplementary to the Framework and does not seek to replace it. It should be used in tandem with the Framework to ensure that RE in church schools is of the highest quality and reflects their distinctive Christian character. It is advisory to the dioceses. I hope it will be helpful as they consider a response to the Framework and their role in developing new agreed syllabuses.

The Church of England is well placed to support the implementation of the National Framework for RE. Each Agreed Syllabus Conference is made up of four committees, one of which represents the Church of England. All four committees have to be unanimous in their approval of a syllabus and therefore each one has an effective veto. We recommend that the members of the Church of England committee on a SACRE or ASC make it clear from the beginning that they will not support any proposed agreed syllabus that is not based on the new National Framework, and that, if necessary, they take this commitment to its logical conclusion.

Page 7

+Kenneth Portsmouth

The Right Reverend Dr Kenneth Stevenson Bishop of Portsmouth

This page is intentionally left blank



Race equality in education

Good practice in schools and local education authorities

Better education and care

Age groupPrimary and Secondary

Published November Reference no. HMI 2398

© Crown copyright 2005

Document reference number: HMI 2398

Website: www.ofsted.gov.uk

This document may be reproduced in whole or in part for non-commercial educational purposes, provided that the information quoted is reproduced without adaptation and the source and date of publication are stated.

Contents

Executive summary	2
Key findings	3
Recommendations	3
Evaluation	4
Race equality in the curriculum	9
The handling and reporting of race-related incidents	15
Improving links with local ethnic minority groups	22
Notes	26
Annex A. Local educational authorities visited in this survey	27
Annex B. Schools visited during this survey	28
Annex C. The thematic survey's methodology	30
Annex D. Further reading	31

Executive summary

This report illustrates good practice on race equality in education in a sample of schools and local education authorities (LEAs) surveyed between the summer of 2003 and the spring of 2005.¹ The survey focused on schools and LEAs that were involved effectively in race equality in education.

Four areas were examined by inspectors:

- improving standards and achievement amongst groups of pupils, with reference to the Race Relations (Amendment) Act 2000 (RRAA)
- the incorporation of race equality concepts into the curriculum in schools
- the handling and reporting of race-related incidents in schools
- the work of schools and LEAs in improving links with local minority ethnic communities.

The survey found that the RRAA has added impetus to work on race equality already under way in the schools. For instance, some schools had policies in place before the Act came into force, and were in the process of revising their policies to take better account of that legislation.

The survey encountered effective measures involving the use of attainment data to measure gaps and stimulate intervention. That incorporated fine pupil- and group-level analysis, with senior managers leading that analysis and target setting. This led to interventions that produced improvements, involving:

- work on the educational and social integration of particular groups of pupils
- mentoring

• closer involvement with parents to discuss opportunities and barriers to attainment, and to increase their children's involvement with school.

In examining the use of race equality concepts in teaching and the curriculum, inspectors found the most effective work to be where the material was coherently incorporated into lessons, through, for example, anchoring the lesson in a local historical context, or stimulating creative and purposeful writing.

All the schools visited handled and reported race-related incidents. There were examples of extensive, thoughtful and supportive LEA guidance that greatly assisted schools in approaching what is, for many schools, a sensitive and challenging area. Schools were most confident about tackling racism and race-related incidents where there was a clear lead from the senior management team on the unacceptability of

¹ Although local authorities are re-organising their services as a consequence of the Children Act 2004, the term local education authority is used throughout this report, as most LEAs had not yet been incorporated into children's services departments at the time of the visits.

such behaviour, which was plainly transmitted to staff, pupils and parents: pupils and staff in these schools particularly valued this approach.

Schools and LEAs undertook work to improve links with minority ethnic groups in order to strengthen the local community's involvement with education, and to address gaps in performance between groups of pupils. Outreach work between local communities and schools was found to be often driven by identified local needs, and encompasses, most commonly, work with parents to enable them to support their children's learning, and sometimes to enhance the parents' employment prospects. Effective work by local communities with schools results in improved attainment and behaviour and a greater sense of the community's obligations towards the school.

Key findings

The RRAA has provided a formal structure to guide and stimulate work that was often already under way to tackle attainment gaps between groups of pupils.
A common perspective amongst the headteachers is that race equality is no longer a "bolt on" in education, but a mainstream concept, and the RRAA serves to give further impetus to work already under way in their schools.
In the most effective schools senior managers used attainment data, qualitative evidence and contextual factors, effectively in their drive to raise the attainment of under-achieving groups.
The successful incorporation of race equality was predominantly found in arts and humanities lessons.
In effective schools, race equality concepts enrich the curriculum as a whole, contribute to effective teaching and learning and support pupils' attainment.
Specialised LEA guidance for dealing with race-related incidents is helping to develop staff's knowledge, confidence, skills and understanding of different types of incidents, making it easier for staff to handle, record and resolve conflicts.
The ways in which the schools link with and learn from their local communities vary widely, but the strongest links lead to benefits beyond supporting pupils' attainment and well being.

Recommendations

For schools:

- inclusion of race equality concepts in lessons should be seen as a normal part of effective teaching and learning
- local resources in lessons involving race equality, such as work by local black and minority ethnic writers, and in the history of local industrialisation, should be used to stimulate pupils' interest and learning.

For LEAs and schools:

- guidance on dealing with race-related incidents should be revised regularly by LEAs, taking account of local stakeholders' views, such as the police, headteachers and representative local minority ethnic groups, to reflect better local circumstances and new challenges
- as part of the review of race equality policies, schools should conduct an audit
 of training needs of all staff, to determine the form, nature and
 appropriateness of any future training; and such training should then be
 provided or secured by the school or LEA.

Evaluation²

Improving standards and achievement

1. This section focuses on work aimed at closing gaps in attainment between groups of pupils. A key driver of that work is the RRAA which placed new requirements on public authorities, including in education. Beyond general requirements, schools are also obliged to produce a race equality policy and take appropriate account of race equality in the consideration of other school policies. One key obligation of the RRAA is the duty to promote equality of opportunity, and this is, in part, put into effect in schools through assessments of race equality policies and tracking of the progress of groups of pupils. In school inspections undertaken by Ofsted under the terms of the Education Act 2005, a school is asked to determine, amongst other things, whether or not the school is complying with the general and specific duties of the RRAA.

2. The main findings in this area are:

- all schools visited had race equality policies in place, and some were revising current policies to take better account of legislation
- the survey encountered imaginative work to review race equality polices, such as involving local stakeholder groups in their development
- schools drew on a range of evidence to devise intervention strategies to close attainment gaps
- the involvement of parents in the development and implementation of strategies secured parental commitment to such projects.
- 3. A study in 2002 had raised concerns about the level of compliance with the RRAA amongst schools. All schools visited in this survey, which focused on schools reported by LEAs to be effective practitioners of race equality in education, either had devised race equality policies, or were revising existing

² This is based on a survey of 12 LEAs and 50 schools in England - see 'Further information' for more details.

.

policies to take better account of the RRAA and the school's local circumstances. Inspectors sought examples of good practice with clear impact on particular pupils' attainment, progress and standing in the school. This section tracks the development of race equality policies; the use of data to inform decisions on support for pupils; and examples of effective interventions arising from work inspired by the RRAA.

- 4. In the schools surveyed, headteachers viewed the RRAA as one of a series of stimuli, reinforcing race equality practices already in existence at school or at local authority levels. One headteacher suggested that the Act was a "wake-up call" for schools with pupils drawn from predominantly white backgrounds, rather than those schools with a broader mix. Schools had characteristically drawn on LEA guidance and their own local circumstances to create or revise their race equality policies. One secondary school had relied on extensive consultation with a wider group of stakeholders, rather than a local authority's guidance, to draw up its policy. A primary school had used a different LEA's guidance to support its own policy's development, on the grounds that its guidance was more suited to that school's circumstances. Consultation with local stakeholders, including parents/carers and community groups, enabled senior managers to take account the community's perceptions and support the needs of pupils.
- 5. Many of the schools had undertaken to map and close gaps in attainment between groups of pupils. In one primary school, with 20% of pupils from a range of minority ethnic and social groups, steps to raise attainment had been brought about partly through a bespoke system of individual pupil tracking. The school had developed a spreadsheet that recorded rates of progress on meeting challenging targets in core subjects, and qualitative evidence, such as extended holidays abroad during the school term, or involvement in playground incidents. The qualitative evidence and the data then enabled the school to make secure judgements on allocating pupils to appropriate teaching groups and on the deployment of additional resources for support. Close monitoring of attainment data helped staff to raise their awareness and question, for example, the over-representation of minority ethnic pupils on the school's special educational needs register. The spreadsheet evidence enabled the headteacher to monitor the impact of specific factors on pupils' attainment and to take appropriate action. The careful assessment and monitoring of progress and then the targeted teaching support led to pupils from minority ethnic groups achieving standards in line with their abilities, and making good progress over time. A data-rich environment, the RRAA, and the school's focus on attainment had combined to ensure pupils' progress.
- 6. Effective data analysis alerted senior management teams in other primary schools to attainment gaps, enabling them to respond rapidly. One primary school deployed Local Public Service Agreement Target 9 funding to address

the underachievement of mixed heritage pupils.³ The school's analysis showed that an intensive literacy programme with three mixed heritage pupils led to them improving their English Key Stage 2 scores by at least one grade. Additional support in numeracy was not provided, and these pupils underachieved in that area. The analysis, in consequence, stimulated successful intervention in one area, and demonstrated that improvement may have been achieved elsewhere had resources been available.

- 7. The examination of attainment and exclusions by pupil year groups in another primary school involved the deputy headteacher, the current class teacher, and the next year's teacher of these pupils. The results of their scrutiny guided decisions, and the pupils' new teachers focused on underachievers, those with bi-lingual needs, and those with special educational needs. For example, a group of minority ethnic pupils identified from the test results in Year 4 were provided with support in Year 5.
- 8. At secondary level, local authorities' strong data analysis effectively supported schools, enabling them to engage in fine analysis of the attainment of minority ethnic pupils to ensure that judged support was put in place.

Case study illustrating how effective analysis of Key Stage 4 data identified areas for improvement and led to appropriate action.

At the time of the inspectors' visit, the school was revising its equal opportunities policy to take account of the RRAA, human rights and the recommendations in Challenges for the Future - Race Equality in Birmingham. Staff, governors and pupils were involved in this revision. There was a clear focus in the draft policy on effective target setting. At Key Stage 4, the school analysed data by ethnicity, gender, form, group and subject. This led to the identification of underachievement at several levels — individual groups of pupils, individual teachers and in departments. Pupils identified as underachieving were targeted for additional support in study and independent learning skills. Support was initiated at a meeting involving pupils and a member of their family. The school planned to improve similarly the data analysis of Key Stage 3, particularly to analyse value added from Key Stage 2 to Key Stage 3 in terms of ethnicity, and to increase cross-departmental work. The improvement had arisen in part from the stimulus of the RRAA.

9. Work arising from the RRAA reinforced effective data analysis. In the best practice senior managers effectively incorporated target setting and

³ A Local Public Service Agreement (LPSA) is an agreement between a local authority and central government, setting out the authority's commitment to deliver improved services, and to meet more challenging performance targets in key areas. LPSA target 9 in this authority (Suffolk) is 'ensuring inclusion by raising attainment of Black Caribbean pupils in Ipswich'.

⁴ The report of the Birmingham Stephen Lawrence enquiry commission, March 2001. The Commission was set up in late 1999 to consider the implications of the Stephen Lawrence enquiry report for Birmingham institutions, and to make proposals.

intervention for individuals and groups of pupils. They used contextual factors, for example taking account of the jobs of pupils' parents, and they met with parents and pupils to discuss and develop target setting. Analysis of the performance of groups of pupils and the drive to improve outcomes for them led to the following interventions.

- 10. At one primary school in an inner city area, there was good support for Gypsy and Traveller pupils and their families by the school and the LEA, aimed at improving attainment and engagement. The LEA's learning materials about the Traveller community included a helpful synopsis of the history of Gypsy and Traveller families, as well as concerns about poor attendance. The LEA had also used an effective home-link worker to explain to families in their homes the importance of attendance, and to provide uniforms and transport, where necessary. Within school, the intensive work conducted with Gypsy and Traveller pupils on basic skills, literacy and numeracy (through *Talking Partners* and the *Talking Numeracy* pilot) was resulting in higher attainment. This work was undertaken in an atmosphere of calm and welcome and motivation, integrating Gypsy and Traveller pupils successfully into the mainstream of education. The school displayed work from other minority cultures effectively, as well as the history of Gypsies and Travellers, and their children's experiences of discrimination. This work was driven partly by the RRAA, but particularly by the school's and LEA's determination to ensure that all groups of pupils benefited from access to education.
- 11. The case studies below illustrate a range of interventions at secondary level. Although mainly school-led, a number of activities led by the LEA are included. In one secondary school, targeted pupils from one minority ethnic group received an hour's mentoring each week, including lesson support, and a regular meeting with a volunteer sixth former. The levels of mentoring and other support were decided by the head of inclusion, and based on a form completed by each head of year. Evaluations, by both the mentor and the pupil, kept track of individual progress. Outcomes included reductions in exclusions, better behaviour and attendance, as well as improved self-esteem and self-confidence, impacting beneficially on the attainment of pupils in Key Stage 4.

Case study showing how parents may be guided to support more effectively their children's education.

In a Birmingham secondary school, analysis of pupils' performance has led to the establishment of an informal group of Black pupils aimed at raising boys' standards of attainment. A Black parents' group, facilitated by a member of the school's senior management team, complements that activity, helping to work on the issues their children encounter in school. The parents' group meet regularly, with letters describing the sessions sent to parents unable to attend. Meetings discuss how to give purposeful encouragement and constructive criticism, and how to set aspirations. A subsequent section 10 inspection of the school reported that "the overall impact of the work has resulted in Black boys achieving far better than they, their parents or teachers had expected. This work demonstrates the power and effectiveness of action when the school and parents work together, and understand what each requires from the other."

- 12. In one London secondary school, detailed analysis and monitoring of actions led to positive outcomes for targeted groups. For example, 15 girls of Somali heritage in Key Stage 3 were identified for support through analysis of data. The girls had weekly one-hour sessions at lunchtimes throughout the year with a Somali youth worker and a local therapist. The girls benefited from greater friendship bonds, better self-esteem, and stronger links between parents and school. The girls' achievement at the end of Key Stage 3 also improved, with better engagement, better motivation, and a greater sense of identification with, and progress in, education.
- 13. Inspectors also tracked the impact of work to support Somali pupils at another secondary school in the same local authority through the involvement of that community. Activities such as counselling by Somalis, the use of a home-link worker and support for pupils with English as an additional language have resulted in improvements in behaviour and attendance. In one case, support had led one pupil, who had previously demonstrated aggressive behaviour towards other children, to take increased interest in lessons; staying on task; and becoming involved in music. Another pupil with behavioural difficulties was supported partly at a lunchtime club, where other Somali boys developed a rapport with that individual, increasing his sense of belonging. That pupil's work and behaviour were consequently improving. The common threads in such intervention were careful diagnosis of the problem and well judged and imaginative responses to a pupil's particular needs, often involving the relevant cultural community, resulting in increased involvement in education.
- 14. The survey also found effective work led by LEAs to tackle the underperformance of identified groups of pupils. The following two examples illustrate effective activities: some succeeded in raising attainment, others in improving attendance and increased involvement in education.

In one London secondary school, an enthusiastic and knowledgeable Traveller teacher, well supported by the LEA, worked with parents and pupils. He visited families on site, explaining the benefits of education for Traveller children, principally as a way to enhance their employment prospects. He also explained their way of life to other groups of pupils. His work has raised the profile of Travellers positively so that their self-esteem has improved, with better attainment at GCSE amongst them and more going on to further education. Traveller pupils interviewed by inspectors spoke confidently of going to university, and acknowledged and appreciated that their culture was now being accorded more interest and respect in school.

The Liverpool Black Achievement Project (LBAP) effectively combines learning with race equality. The material, generated by local Black historians, celebrates the achievements of Black men and women in a range of fields, importantly anchoring pupils to two areas of interest – their own ethnic identity, and their own locality. The work includes classroom activities, use of role models, strategies to promote positive identities, and resources designed for use with Black learners but which were suitable for pupils from all backgrounds. In addition, increasing parental involvement in their children's learning also fosters improvement. The target group (chosen after data analysis and discussion with form teachers) is under-performing Liverpool-born Black or mixed heritage pupils. Evidence of improvement in attainment is greater at the primary than secondary level. Inspectors considered the challenges for LBAP to be: sustaining these improvements and progress throughout the secondary phase; and taking steps to develop the work as a module for use in all schools in Liverpool, and beyond. Although inspectors did not meet pupils who had been involved in LBAP, pupils' written evaluations of LBAP were encouraging.

15. The effect of the RRAA in schools visited has, generally, been to give further impetus to work already under way to reduce gaps in attainment and other areas (such as behaviour) between different groups of pupils. That legislative framework provides formality and structure to such efforts, and the legislation has, in the case of the schools and LEAs visited, contributed to the drive of staff, officers and senior management teams to close attainment gaps and raise standards in their schools.

Race equality in the curriculum

- 16. This section deals with the use of race equality material in the curriculum. The National Curriculum's inclusion statement requires schools to take action to meet the specific needs of different ethnic groups. The Code of Practice on the RRAA signals that a race equality policy should encompass curriculum, teaching and learning (including language and cultural needs). Ofsted's inspections of schools under the Education Act 2005 examines the quality of the school's curriculum, to see how well it meets the range of needs and interests of all pupils. The main findings in this area are as follows:
 - pupils enjoyed work which both stimulated and widened their perceptions on race equality and discriminatory practices
 - effective lessons incorporating race equality were predominately in arts and humanities subjects, although good practice was spread across primary and secondary phases
 - imaginative use was made of race equality concepts, for example in bringing together topics in history, art and textiles or in making use of local resources about the history of major cities and pupils' experience of life in particular countries

- the incorporation of race equality concepts across the curriculum, underpinned by a strong cultural ethos, contributed to harmonious relationships between groups of pupils.
- 17. The benefits of explaining other cultures and beliefs are well articulated in, for example, *Curriculum Guidelines for Cultural Diversity and Race Equality.*⁵ That guidance includes strategies for tackling racism and a range of examples of what might be included in different curriculum areas. This guidance, by incorporating the requirements of the RRAA, effectively draws attention to the educational opportunities presented by the use of race equality material in the curriculum.
- 18. Inspectors observed a range of lessons and discussed race equality provision in the curriculum with staff and pupils. The evidence gathered indicates that effective teaching of race equality concepts improves learning and pupils' interest and enjoyment. Pupils commented that they enjoyed subjects incorporating race equality issues, and that the "Black dimension" within a number of curriculum areas widened their perspectives on race and discriminatory practices in school and beyond. Pupils also stated that the work had played an important part in helping to counter prejudiced views beyond school.
- 19. Although this section mainly illustrates effective lessons, inspectors did encounter weaker work. A few lessons sometimes had subject material that was too complex for the age of the pupils; or lessons consisted mainly of teachers reciting issues to pupils ("teacher talk") without stimulating informed discussion. In a handful of cases, such teaching was unsatisfactory.
- 20. Good curriculum mapping tested how well race equality concepts had been integrated and often resulted in action if gaps were detected. A good example is provided below. It extended mapping into pastoral areas, drawing on the LEA's self-evaluation material for schools on race equality provision.

Case study illustrating how the thoughtful incorporation of race equality into the curriculum has affected the attainment and personal development of pupils.

In a junior school, in a predominantly white area of a major city, the firm leadership and management of the headteacher and senior management team have provided strong support for the work of the equal opportunities coordinator.

In meeting its requirements under the RRAA, the school monitors closely the progress and attainment of its small number of pupils from minority ethnic groups. Targets are set for individual pupils and most of these have been met. However, their progress and attainment

⁵ Published and available from Hertfordshire County Council.

is reported only at the end of Key Stage 2. The school is currently reviewing its race equality policy and is amending it to take account of future priorities.

Good use had been made of the local authority's **High Sights** self-evaluation material to identify the strengths and relative weaknesses in race equality provision. The school has produced a suitable action plan to bring about further improvement.

Inspectors found that the promotion of race equality is well embedded in the curriculum, building on the school's work on Black History month. All curriculum coordinators have reviewed their areas in order to ensure all themes and topics reflect the multicultural nature of Liverpool and Britain. A curriculum map is now being produced by the equal opportunities coordinator to make links explicit and ensure coherence.

In incorporating work on diversity and anti-racism, the school had promoted higher standards and had further developed pupils' enthusiasm and enjoyment of learning. For example, the school is aware that trips to the transatlantic slave museum and visits from Maori and African music groups could reinforce stereotypes. Positive images are reflected in displays throughout the school, including the 100 Greatest Black Britons (such as John Barnes and Ms Dynamite) in the classroom. The school has successfully engaged teachers of dual heritage who act as positive role models within the school.

Pupils display extensive knowledge and awareness of fair trade and human rights. Pupils from Year 3 onwards have a good understanding of the concept of human rights and are not only aware of the principles of fair trade but also apply them to their family shopping habits. They have developed their ICT skills in producing Fair Trade board games.

The leadership has effectively shaped the vision and direction of race equality work. The leadership of the school has fully engaged staff in discussion and consultation and the headteacher has set a clear lead for the future direction of the curriculum. The school is now planning to extend training on race equality to all non-teaching staff.

This school's governors and its new headteacher wanted a strong race equality dimension in all aspects of the school's work, in particular in its subject schemes of work. The headteacher reorganised the management structure of the school, taking overall responsibility for curriculum development to ensure that the race equality dimension is effectively integrated. The headteacher felt that in the past race equality matters were viewed as a 'bolt on' rather than as an integral and important strand of the school's work. To this end, a review of the geography and art curriculum has been undertaken and topics and themes included that make pupils aware of their own and other cultures. PSHE work on asylum seekers, plus involvement in the **Kick Racism out of Football** project has enabled pupils to discuss race issues and discriminatory practices directly. Work on display shows that pupils are gaining an awareness of art forms in other cultures and are improving their drawing, painting and design skills accordingly.

21. The examples set out below illustrate effective teaching of race equality in the classroom, provoking pupils' interest.

Three examples of lessons that developed pupils' interest in other cultures, and stimulated learning.

In a Year 3 religious education lesson on learning about different festivals, a notable feature was the use of a 'Melting Pot'. Pupils had already completed work on celebrations. Part way through this lesson the teacher introduced a big jar termed a 'Melting Pot'. It contained artefacts and props collected by the teacher during the course of six weeks which related to Islam, Judaism and Christianity as well as secular celebrations and events the pupils had been involved in, such as Arts Week. The teacher then used the artefacts to enable pupils to recall and explain what they had learned about the different festivals and religions. The pupils discussed the question "why is it important to have celebrations and festivals in school?" In a plenary session, the pupils reported back: "so that we can learn about each others cultures; have fun, learn about the history of other religions: think about the poor." The teacher then shared her own response to the question including: appreciating other beliefs, celebrating differences and similarities, so that each person feels valued and welcomed. The lesson promoted race equality effectively as an interesting experience for pupils.

In a Year 2 class in another primary, the topic of the lesson was Japan. The pupils were quickly on task, learning about the concepts of other cultures, ways of life, race and religion. This was sensitively handled by the class teacher, and good relationships and friendships were observed in the class. The children evidently enjoyed their work and were particularly interested in a discussion with a Year 4 pupil of Japanese heritage who visited the class to answer their questions about her visit to Japan. The children were thoughtful, interested and polite, and thanked her without any prompting from the teacher. The teacher had carefully involved a pupil from an ethnic minority to illustrate the culture and background of that minority ethnic group.

In the same school, a Year 6 class covered the Kristallnacht ("Night of Crystal") in 1930s Germany and the concepts of prejudice and discrimination against Jews. The class was composed mostly of pupils from Muslim backgrounds. The pupils handled difficult concepts well and respected the symbols of the Jewish religion. The teacher managed the class sensitively, and pupils responded well, especially in trying to understand the feelings of children involved in the Kindertransport. The work was well differentiated, effective use was made of the interactive whiteboard, and the teaching assistant and a student helper (both of minority ethnic heritage) purposefully supported less able pupils. In this class, issues of race equality, of prejudice and discrimination, were sensitively handled by drawing the attention of pupils carefully to the sufferings endured by children of the same age.

How consideration of race equality can be effectively harnessed and integrated into a lesson developing pupils' literacy skills.

In a Year 6 literacy lesson, pupils were asked to produce a leaflet for new arrivals to the school. Previous lessons have resulted in some drafts and this lesson concentrates on improving the text. The context was that four pupils are arriving in the school. Their situation has been discussed in earlier lessons. Pupils have to produce a leaflet explaining what the school offers for them. The best leaflets were expected to be printed and used for new in-coming pupils.

- Monique who will go into Y3. Her mum is from St Lucia and dad from Ireland. Monique was born in London. She wears glasses and is worried that she will be teased. She is keen on football and is hoping to join a team.
- Faheed will go into Y4. his parents came from Bangladesh 20 years ago. They are moving him from his last school because of racist bullying. Faheed is worried it will start up again. He is very interested in ICT.
- Elcin will go into Y5. She arrived into the UK from Turkey 5 months ago. She speaks very little English and is worried that she will not understand the teachers. Elcin does not know if she will be able to make friends. She is scared that she will not know what to do.
- Billy will go into Y6. His father is in the army and so Billy has moved schools a lot. He is clever but he has moved a lot and is worried about whether he will be able to catch up. He is also worried about making friends.

The Y6 pupils drafted their responses and in the lesson the teacher carefully drew out from the pupils how the leaflet will capture the attention of the incoming pupils. Features such as layout, short paragraphs, using bullet points, mixing text with visuals and decorative borders are explored sensitively, so that pupils gain knowledge and understanding about writing for this particular audience. The lesson consequently combined managing presentation, writing development and race equality within the context of a literacy hour.

Case studies showing how race awareness can be successfully incorporated into the curriculum

In one secondary school, with predominantly White pupils, all Year 10 pupils travel to Brick Lane in Tower Hamlets, London, not only to improve their geographical skills but to gain first-hand experience of the different cultures and lifestyles in the capital. The work is successful in widening pupils' perceptions of how ethnic minorities live and work beyond their own county town. In addition, topics and themes in particular subjects at the school have successfully tackled race and discrimination matters: in one effective Year 13 media lesson, students were studying the portrayal of minority ethnic groups in TV soap operas. The range of work was assisting students to

examine stereotypical views and counter them using evidence from a range of contemporary sources.

Religious education lessons in another secondary school were used for discussion on perceptions of asylum seekers. The work demonstrated the determination of staff to tackle race equality and to bring to the surface what they perceived to be an "undercurrent" of racism existing in a rural area. The debate in that lesson helped in developing the skill of marshalling arguments, through distinguishing between fact and myth and then articulating those differences.

An A level music technology course focused on Black music, which led to a 20% increase in the number of Black pupils taking this option, and better than expected results in the subject. In the same school, pupils studied local Black history as part of the Key Stage 3 curriculum, including the background of a female slavery abolitionist who had once lived in the grounds of that school: this was placed in the context of the 19th Century industrialisation of Birmingham. Another history class at a school in the Wirral had explored emancipation and industrialisation in the context of the development of Liverpool.

In a Year 9 English lesson, pupils were asked to analyse a poem by a New Commonwealth author. The teacher read the poem, using a PowerPoint presentation illustrating London and the poet's birthplace. After a brief evaluation of the geographic distinctions, pupils tracked her two "cultural identities" – Caribbean and British – to illustrate the tensions inherent in the poem. Teasing out how those identities were exemplified in the poem contributed to the development of pupils' critical faculties and race awareness.

A music lesson in another secondary school, incorporated history, race equality, and musical development. The aim was for pupils to understand the social background to the development of Blues music and the contribution Blues has made to contemporary music. The pupils did not know where Blues music originated, and why it was named so. The level of challenge was high. The teacher made clear the links between Blues music and pop and rock genres. The lesson made a positive contribution to developing pupils' cultural awareness and improved their musical ability, particularly their keyboard skills.

A lesson set entitled "African Jigsaw" mixed textiles, history, religious education, geography, music and art, into a compelling module, which in the judgement of inspectors secured pupils' attention, tackled race equality, and enhanced learning. In the same school, "prejudice" was a theme which ran through a series of history modules – for example, how the ancient Romans treated other groups under the empire. The parallels with contemporary events secured pupils' engagement.

22. Inspectors found that race equality, incorporated as an element of good lessons, had materially increased pupils' motivation and participation rates, and enhanced pupils' progress. Such work signals generally that inculcating race equality into the curriculum has effectively moved teaching and learning on and

- is a valuable tool for educational improvement, capturing pupils' interest and engagement, and improving attainment.
- 23. Effective work in the curriculum must be firmly based on the school's context. Work on welcoming new pupils from a range of backgrounds and the debate on asylum seekers illustrated in the examples above took place in significantly different schools in different communities. Some lessons and activities need to be led by experienced staff to ensure that pupils achieve well and do not succumb to preconceptions. In such circumstances, where schools effectively incorporate race equality into the curriculum, the supportive culture and ethos of the school underpin such activities firmly. Secure thoughtful planning and teaching enable such schools to bind race equality into the curriculum to improve pupils' achievement and enjoyment.

The handling and reporting of race-related incidents

- 24. This section starts with an outline of administrative and legislative requirements for handling and reporting race-related incidents, discusses the definition of such incidents, then sets out effective practice at local authority and school levels.
- 25. The main findings in this area are as follows:
 - authoritative, well researched and supportive LEA guidance helped schools tackle race-related incidents effectively
 - headteachers' strong stance on the unacceptability of racism provided staff with the confidence to manage incidents well
 - pupils and staff considered that the firm approach of the senior management team to incidents and racism improved relationships between groups of pupils
 - schools in most LEAs were confident that the LEA would provide effective support where serious incidents occurred; this was borne out by records in several LEAs
 - there was some under-reporting of incidents because of the perceived lack of confidence in defining and reporting incidents, or lack of clear LEA guidance.
- 26. One of the recommendations of the Macpherson enquiry into the death of Stephen Lawrence was that schools should record all race-related incidents, and inform local education authorities. A further recommendation was that Ofsted should examine the implementation of such strategies. The Department for Education and Skills's guidance on behaviour indicates that schools have procedures to record such incidents. The Commission for Racial Equality's *Code of practice on the duty to promote race equality* signals that, in assessing schools' policies, regard should be paid to steps to prevent racist bullying. Finally, the Home Office's *Code of practice: reporting and recording racist*

incidents recommends that schools record all such incidents. In terms of school inspections under section 5 of the Education Act 2005, schools are asked by Ofsted to evaluate whether pupils feel safe from racist incidents. Pupils may also be questioned by inspectors on whether they feel free from any form of bullying or harassment within school. The outcomes of those aspects of inspection are taken into account in reaching judgements on, amongst other things, the overall effectiveness of the school. Under the terms of the Children Act 2004, joint area reviews of services supporting children and young people in a local authority's area will seek evidence of contributions made towards ensuring that pupils are free from bullying and discrimination.

- 27. The legislation, administrative guidance, and inspectors' expectations consequently signal to schools and LEAs the need to put in place systems for handling and recording race-related incidents. Beyond that, the number and range of types of incident reported to inspectors in the survey, and the adverse impact of racist abuse on victims' attainment and attitudes, show clearly the need to deal with such incidents effectively and proportionately.
- 28. In deciding what constitutes a racist incident a number of LEAs use the Macpherson definition, with one headteacher summing that up cogently in the phrase "if the child feels the incident is racist, it is". It is for LEAs with their schools to decide what constitutes a racist incident, and inspectors found good practice meant liaison with other partners, such as the police, to ensure that each agency in the local authority's area has a settled, common definition of what represents a race-related incident.
- 29. The nature of incidents handled and reported in schools in the twelve LEAs visited ranged from verbal abuse, (the largest proportion of incidents, spanning name calling in infant schools to adults verbally abusing pupils), to assaults. The survey found that two principal features provided schools with the confidence and knowledge to tackle incidents effectively. These were guidance provided by LEAs; and the strong leadership of headteachers.
- 30. Authoritative, well researched and supportive guidance makes clear to school staff the need and reasons why such behaviour should not be tolerated. Such guidance, coupled with training, equips schools with knowledge, confidence and firm ground on which to prevent and respond to incidents. The quality of guidance examined by inspectors was, in the main, strong, and school staff said that they had found it to be extremely useful in handling incidents. This section illustrates two examples of guidance provided by LEAs to schools which they found useful in supporting and shaping their approaches to incidents.

Example One

31. In one LEA, the racist incident procedures were developed with the local racial incident action group. The material refers to the relevant Macpherson recommendations, and Ofsted guidance. The LEA uses the Macpherson definition of an incident and makes plain early on in the guidance that all

incidents must be recorded. The guidance is put into practice by, for example, each school having a nominated monitoring officer, whose responsibilities include overseeing the handling of all incidents and, importantly, identifying particular trends. The officer's role extends beyond mere processing and tracking, and covers work on developing the curriculum to reflect racism and diversity, as well as training on incidents and the analysis that the RRAA requires.

32. This guidance also refers to behaviour that might be symptomatic of racist and other bullying, as well as providing advice for pupils. It suggests that the educational context and level of adverse personal impact should both be considered as part of the teacher's immediate intervention. It also examines "indirect racism" – in plain terms, stereotyping, such as when pupils with English as an additional language are incorrectly categorised as having special educational needs; Black boys are assessed as "difficult"; and parents in some minority ethnic groups are involved in school, but only in activities such as modelling traditional dress or cooking. The guidance states that, if an institution does not intervene authoritatively in incidents, there is real danger that the school itself may be viewed by the unsupported victim as colluding with the perpetrator. Inspectors found the guidance to be thoughtful, thorough and coherent. It rightly begins with national policy; sets out central principles; is practical and reasonably detailed; and, when complemented by effective training, was reported to be of great use to teachers and other staff.

Example Two

- 33. The second set of guidance begins by setting out principles, based on legislation (including the Crime and Disorder Act 1998) and on inspection's expectations. The guidance states that the Macpherson definition of an incident should be used and goes on to widen the context by referring to curriculum guidance on race equality and Ofsted's references to race equality. Importantly, the guidance draws the reader's attention to the LEA's school self-evaluation material and its references to race equality. The LEA suggests that schools adopt a preventative approach on incidents, through mentioning anti-racism in schools' prospectuses and formalising what some schools do informally at induction meetings with parents. The guidance also sets out a range of incident types, and offers suggestions on handling each one. They range from name calling, to comments made in lessons, to assaults. This approach is seen as welcome, and of material help, to staff. The guidance also advises that a collated report on incidents should be included in the Governors' report to parents. Inspectors found the guidance to be clearly written, offering practical suggestions to senior management teams on how to handle particular kinds of incidents.
- 34. In light of the good practice seen in the survey, the following areas should be covered in local authorities' revision of guidance to schools on handling and reporting incidents:

- relevant legislation and administrative guidance
- inspection's expectations
- the definition of what constitutes an incident
- the adverse educational and emotional impacts of racism on pupils
- the incorporation of race equality into school self-evaluation
- advocacy of preventative approaches to racism, such as covering anti-racism in a school prospectus and at parents' induction evenings
- the range of incident types
- ways of handling incident types, exemplified by anonymised case studies
- guidance on how to record race-related incident reports
- advising that a digest of incidents should be made available to governing bodies, and mentioned in schools' annual report to parents
- outlining the use made by local authority officers and elected members of data and collated digests of incident reports
- helpline numbers for further guidance and advice
- contact names and telephone numbers in case of a serious incident.
- 35. Finally, in most local authorities visited in the survey, local authority officers prepared collated reports for members' consideration. The best examples included: breakdowns by geographic area; by phase; by victim and perpetrator type, such as teaching staff as victims; and incident type. Such reports conclude with details of action taken by schools, including where there have been exclusions, or police involvement. Elected members would then consequently be able to take a strategic view on schools' and officers' responses to rises or decreases in incident rates.
- 36. Although effective guidance offers authoritative support to schools, the role of the headteacher and the leadership team is crucial to the success of such schools in handling incidents, and maintaining a racially harmonious atmosphere. Zero tolerance of racism depends on the headteacher's insistence that incidents are treated seriously and crucially through putting this policy into action. Effective practice was found when headteachers made their position clear at induction meetings with parents of new pupils. One headteacher used an emergency assembly, when a serious incident occurred, to reinforce the school's zero tolerance of racist attitudes. In one primary school, the headteacher confronted the negative attitudes of a small minority of parents, and made plain that she was not prepared to tolerate racist attitudes in and around her school.
- 37. Other effective leadership by senior management teams in this area involved, in one primary school, the new headteacher monitoring and reviewing the racist

incident log and identifying particular areas where staff required further training, and where possible under-reporting might occur. A programme was put into place in the school to train dinner supervisors, and involved pupils acting out three short scenarios:

- 'The Push'- reinforcing how to resolve a dispute between pupils
- 'Grace's Story' to show the effects of persistent, intentional victimisation
- 'Jew Boy' dealing with a racist incident.

The work here generated knowledge and confidence amongst staff in managing subsequent incidents.

- 38. In one primary school, a log has been diligently kept and reported to the LEA since 1999. The management team saw to it that all staff, including lunchtime supervisors and part-time staff, received training on reporting and recording incidents to ensure consistency of approach and application. Dealing with incidents is a component of the equal opportunities policy, which is managed by the deputy headteacher, and is part of the wider school policy on behaviour. Most recorded incidents are linked with name calling. Action is taken immediately and for all incidents the school involves parents at appropriate stages. Sanctions follow a code of conduct, which is well understood by pupils, parents and staff. The same code is applied to clubs and other activities before and after school. The procedure for monitoring involves all staff and members of the governing body.
- 39. In one primary school, the headteacher held a meeting between victim and perpetrator a month or so after the initial incident and interview. That sent a strong message to the perpetrator and to others involved about how the headteacher viewed such matters. In another school, the headteacher sent letters to both the victim's and the perpetrator's parents, emphasising how seriously the matter was taken by the school. Once again, this approach sent out clear messages about the unacceptability of racism within the school.
- 40. Although the survey focused on schools and LEAs exhibiting effective work on race equality, inspectors encountered some weaker practice on handling and reporting incidents. This was characterised by a lack of confidence in defining and reporting such incidents; reported lack of clarity in LEA guidance on incidents; and under-reporting of incidents.
- 41. The impact of effective work is twofold. At school level, firm approaches to racism by the school's leadership affected both staff and pupils. Staff interviewed endorsed the approach and commented that addressing racist incidents was seen as a normal part of the school's behaviour strategy. In schools where staff are confident about handling incidents, action was swift, proportionate, discreet but influential and effective. Staff at such schools commented that they had a collective understanding about what represented

- an incident and the types of incidents, as a consequence of effective LEA guidance, and staff training (including non-teaching staff).
- 42. Pupils also welcomed the firm approach to racism on the part of the school's leadership. In one school, a pupil commented 'there is racism outside the gates, but not here'. Pupils commented that in such schools, they felt confident in reporting incidents; that incidents would be dealt with quickly; and that the school took racism and bullying seriously. Pupils in such schools understood that boundaries were clearly drawn, and knew that the school did not take racist behaviour lightly. The strong line taken by headteachers contributed to a harmonious ethos at such schools. Finally, parents expressed confidence in the ability of such schools to deal with incidents effectively and confidently.
- 43. The second impact was the effect on the numbers of incidents reported. In some LEAs visited in this survey there was an increase in the number of incidents; and, in others, a drop between 2002/03 and 2003/04. Reasons for increases in numbers of incidents were said to be: the impact of external events, such as the Iraq war and its aftermath; and/or greater confidence on the part of staff in handling and reporting incidents. The reasons for decreases in incidents reported were said to be: pupils' growing realisation of the seriousness of incidents, and the sanctions available; and/or improved cohesiveness amongst groups of pupils.
- 44. It is impossible, given the number of schools and pupils in these LEAs, to assess how much of an effect the quality of handling and of reporting processes has had on the increase or decrease in incidents reported. Inspectors found, however, that the strong line taken by headteachers in schools visited has helped in developing a more harmonious ethos in those schools. Pupils from minority ethnic groups see and acknowledge that racist behaviour is tackled confidently and effectively in their schools and the racial harmony is testimony to the effective handling of racism by headteachers and staff.
- 45. The characteristics seen in the survey of good practice on handling and reporting incidents are as follows:
 - the senior management team ensure that pupils, parents and staff are aware
 of the school's approach to race-related incidents, through publishing the
 school's policy in the school's prospectus, and mentioning the policy at
 induction sessions with new pupils and parents
 - pastoral managers conduct regular staff audits to establish whether they have received training on incidents, and initiate in-house or LEA-led training events where necessary, reflecting both the school's policy, and the LEA's guidance and reporting procedures
 - pastoral managers ensure that incidents are properly recorded, and responses judged appropriately to reflect the seriousness of the incident.

- the adverse effect on the victim is emphasised, with the accent placed on an assertive approach to perpetrators (possibly through role play such as putting the perpetrator in the shoes of the victim)
- parents/carers of perpetrators are apprised of the incident, and the action taken by the school.
- in the case of serious incidents (such as repeated verbal abuse, or physical intimidation) the views of the headteacher and the relevant LEA officer are sought, before determining sanctions
- the number of incidents handled and recorded is reported on at least a termly basis to governors, and annually to all parents.
- 46. This section now focuses on examples of how partnership working between the LEA and a school has supported the handling and reporting of incidents. Although the majority of schools visited were submitting racist incident returns to their LEA, in one LEA staff said that not all incidents were logged and reported, but were dealt with informally, partly because it was considered by headteachers that 'first time offenders' should be dealt with informally. In addition, the LEA's guidance was said to lack clarity.
- 47. The role of an LEA extends beyond providing written guidance and training courses, to supporting a school when a serious incident occurs, and involving other local partners as appropriate. Most schools visited expressed confidence in the ability of the LEA to respond effectively in the event of a serious incident.
- 48. In one LEA, a headteacher noticed an incident between racial groups outside school, and after receiving what she considered to be an inadequate response from the local police, contacted a senior LEA officer. He, in turn, got in touch with the area commander and explained the background and concerns of the headteacher that the issue might escalate. Given the good relationships at that high level, the commander was able to ensure there were police officers at the school the next day to prevent possible escalation.
- 49. In another LEA, a secondary school reported tension between groups of girls from the Somalian and Turkish communities that had spilled out beyond the school gates. The school's senior management team, its governors and the LEA worked effectively with a counsellor to mediate with the two groups, and that intervention assisted in defusing a situation that could, otherwise, have escalated. Both incidents reflect the importance of seeking advice from experienced LEA officers.
- 50. Proactive and effective work by an LEA's link advisers on race-related incidents was also seen. For example, an analysis of incidents by LEA officers which compared schools with similar intakes indicated that some schools may be under-reporting incidents: potential under-reporting was then tackled in

subsequent link advisers' visits. In one case, a termly monitoring of schools signalled that inclusion was not being properly addressed in a secondary school. As a result, race equality was put on the agenda of the link adviser's visit. The ethnic minority achievement team was then invited in by the headteacher to discuss minority ethnic attainment and inclusion. There were subsequently no further reports of an apparent failure to address inclusion at that school.

51. What emerges clearly is that judicious support by the local authority, and clear leadership by the senior management team, is a forceful combination. Improved staff confidence in the light of the senior management team's lead contributes to pupils' perception that racism is not tolerated, and firm action will be taken with perpetrators, and that all groups of pupils are treated with respect. That, in turn, contributes to the pupils' sense that all groups are valued, and that greater harmony exists within the school. The harmonious atmosphere contributes to the improved well-being and education of pupils.

Improving links with local ethnic minority groups

- 52. Work undertaken by a school (often with its LEA) to strengthen educational links with a local community can assist in reducing inequalities and gaps in performance between groups of pupils. It can increase a local community's knowledge of, and support for, local schools.
- 53. The main findings in this area are as follows:
 - work predominately involved parents, enabling them to support their children's progress, and improve parents' employment prospects
 - effective work with local minority ethnic groups contributed to improved attainment for pupils.
- 54. The survey found activity to be commonly driven by local needs that are accurately identified and led by a school's senior management team, often with the LEA's support. The work was wide ranging as the following examples illustrate.
- 55. In one London borough, individual schools developed specifically targeted curriculum initiatives to meet the needs of both pupils and parents from minority ethnic groups. For example, one school successfully promoted and developed an English for other languages course with a local college that provides specific language support for parents. Somali mothers who attended sessions showed increased confidence and ability to help their children in mathematics and literacy. The impact of that work goes beyond assisting the pupils' attainment. It leads to improved educational attainment amongst parents, enabling them to gain access to employment or training opportunities; increased confidence in the school and in education; and increased interest in their own children's educational progress.

- 56. In another London borough a booster class in one primary school, aimed at potential level 4 achievers, invited parents into the school, where they had arithmetical concepts explained so that they could help their children with homework. The outcome was that pupils whose parents had been able to attend the classes achieved level 4. Not only did that result in better attainment, but the work is having beneficial effects in terms of parental engagement and confidence in the education system, and demonstrates to parents how valued their children are within school.
- 57. In a further two LEAs visited, involvement with parents led to the development of more formal structures to support parents, through the creation of adult education units as part of the schools' sites.

Case Study

Community education funding has been shrewdly used to develop an adult learning centre in the school's grounds. The centre provides access to adults in the wider community to develop their skills and gain accreditation. More than 200 courses are available, and the benefits of this for the school include easy access for classroom and other support staff to gain relevant NVQ levels 2 and 3. Around 30 adults have benefited in this way over the last four years. Some of these are Muslim women, who provide very effective role models for the children within the school. This is a practical illustration of translating the school's commitment and drive to put its race equality policy into practice.

Case Study

The project **Equal Access for All** is an excellent example of how a public body (the LEA with support from the school) can involve a "hard to reach" community in education. The project focuses on adult education for the local Pakistani heritage community, which traditionally has little contact with further education. The impact was as follows:

- For pupils, sessions on basic skills for parents resulted in pupils' improved attendance and punctuality; and providing parents with reading skills had an impact on their children's attainment, with parents able to read with, and listen to, their children.
- For parents, learning led to a spectrum of improvement. A parent who was illiterate was now reported to be an enthusiastic and regular attendee at classes; other parents were now taking Open University degrees, or Diplomas in Pre-School Practice.
- In terms of outreach activity, this work was with a group not traditionally involved in adult education. There was now greater confidence in the school environment: children now went on school trips; attended homework clubs; and the school was seen as a safe haven for women's employment. The project also ensured that there was increased attendance at parents' evenings, as the community became more involved in pupils' academic progress.

- 58. Effective work in schools extends to groups other than parents and contributes to the improved attainment and well-being of pupils, as well as enhancing links between local groups and the school. The following examples in one school illustrate some of these:
 - the organisers of *Itifaq*, a local Muslim community group, work effectively
 with the school in order to raise standards for Pakistani heritage boys by
 organising an effective mentoring project. The enormous mutual goodwill
 contributes to very productive relationships between the local Muslim
 community and the school
 - excellent joint work between the school and local police officers makes a
 significant contribution to promoting community safety and cohesion. Daily
 visits to the school by the "beat bobby" are accepted as the norm by the
 students. The students are encouraged to suggest solutions to local problems.
 For example, the students proposed that personal alarms would serve the
 needs of local senior citizens, who were feeling unsafe and vulnerable.
 Personal contact and good relationships between the officers and young
 people makes the local area more harmonious, particularly during out of
 school hours.
- 59. In another secondary school, with 54% of its pupils from minority ethnic backgrounds - mainly Pakistani and Indian heritages - the local mosque has been involved in supporting pupils' education at the school. The school implements effective measures designed to help pupils get to know each other. From Year 7, teachers organise all classes so that boys, girls and those from different ethnic backgrounds sit together. These classroom arrangements to encourage mutual understanding between pupils are backed up by clear and firm action on bullying and racist abuse. The school makes great efforts to involve all parents; there was 97% turnout at the previous parents' evening. Attendance, exclusions and attainment are carefully monitored, and despite higher than average levels of Free School Meals entitlement and pupils with special educational needs, all pupils gain at least one qualification and the general level of attainment in GCSE shows a high level of value-added. The work in the school is supported and extended by the local mosque and Madressah. The mosque's trustees determinedly work closely with the school and also contribute to the local community. For example, the local *Sure Start* is housed in the centre attached to the mosque, and an ICT suite is open to all pupils to complete homework or improve ICT skills. In such circumstances, the positive approach of the school and its partner fosters racial harmony and contributes to attainment.
- 60. Two further examples illustrate effective work by one LEA and its partners to respond, through education, to particular needs in the local community. One identified need was tackling xenophobia through the **Understanding Islam** project, part-funded by the local authority and managed by the Lancashire council of mosques. A qualified Muslim teacher takes lessons in schools to help

pupils gain familiarity with Islam, dispel misconceptions, and answer any questions pupils choose to ask. Schools are given further resources to follow up with their classes later. Two high-quality sessions observed by inspectors were effective because of engaging teaching, interesting resources and a humorous approach. The teacher asked pupils questions which prompted them to think and reflect. Pupils were delighted to try on Muslim headwear and examine prayer beads. Pupils in both classes of a primary school with very few pupils from minority ethnic groups had sufficient acquaintance with the concepts of Islam to answer with good sense and ask serious questions. The experience for pupils was a very good one. The Lancashire council of mosques evaluates the project by questionnaires left with the schools and follows this up, when invited, with further visits. Inspectors judged this to be a valuable experience for pupils, although it is difficult to assess its long term effects.

- 61. Finally, the county's Gypsy and Traveller education service (TES) carries out a range of valuable work. For pupils it principally involves improving attendance and literacy (mainly up to Key Stage 2); establishing mechanisms to track the progress of an often mobile population; as well as developing resource material and running projects to promote awareness of Gypsy and Traveller culture. The TES's impact can be seen in terms of improved literacy and attendance up to Key Stage 2, credibility with families, and also in a generational shift, from families at one time seeing education as being of little value, to seeing it now as an important instrument in supporting traditional Gypsy and Traveller employment. That is one major step on the road to full educational inclusion, and the TES must take credit for playing a key part in that progress.
- 62. What most of these activities have in common is the determination, by the school and often the LEA, to work to secure educational gains both for and beyond the pupils. The direct benefits are improved pupil attainment and involvement in education. And coupled with that is work with parents that may offer them better life chances, through access to wider employment opportunities. The school has embraced outreach work and sought to deliver better education for all.

-

⁶ The TES is also supported by, and works in, the boroughs of Blackburn with Darwen and Blackpool.

Notes

Further information

This report is based on visits by Her Majesty's Inspectors (HMIs) and additional inspectors to 12 LEAs and 50 schools in England between summer term 2003 to spring term 2005. The methodology underpinning the survey is shown at Annex C. The survey's aim is to illustrate examples of good practice in race equality in schools and LEAs.

The survey was undertaken as a consequence of Ofsted's concerns about the unsatisfactory performance of some LEAs in respect of their work on combating racism, and promoting race equality. Her Majesty's Chief Inspector's annual report for 2003/04 noted that eight out of 30 LEAs inspected were graded unsatisfactory on the function of promoting race equality or combating racism; and that in 2004/2005, four out of 15 LEAs inspected were judged unsatisfactory or worse on their work of promoting race equality. Inspectors visited LEAs that had been judged to be highly satisfactory or better in their work on race equality to examine and report on good practice.

The survey also sought good practice in schools that were closing attainment gaps between groups of pupils, responding well to their duties under the RRAA, and integrating race equality concepts effectively into the curriculum. Inspectors identified examples of good practice that might be shared, through this report, with other schools and LEAs.

Wide variations in attainment by particular groups of pupils and the need to reflect in schools the cultures of minority ethnic groups in Britain are well documented. It is expected that the work illustrated here will assist further in enabling gaps in attainment between groups to be closed; and race equality concepts more effectively harnessed to enhance pupils' performance, and project firmly to pupils from all backgrounds the valuable contributions made by minority ethnic cultures to national life.

The survey also scrutinised the handling and reporting of race-related incidents. The continuing, and in some cases, increasing number of incidents reported in schools in LEAs visited, and the increasing number of racist incidents presented for prosecution, points to the need for LEAs, with their schools, to demonstrate forcefully the unacceptability of racist behaviour, and act accordingly.

The survey also examined the involvement of schools and LEAs with local minority ethnic groups, particularly work with parents from different groups to support their children's progress and signal that those pupils' education and well-being are properly valued by society.

Finally, the HMI and additional inspectors who conducted the survey would wish to express their thanks and gratitude to the officers, senior school managers and staff, pupils and stakeholders who contributed to this survey.

Annex A. Local educational authorities visited in this survey

Birmingham

Enfield

Hertfordshire

Kirklees

Lancashire

Liverpool

Camden

Hammersmith & Fulham

Royal Borough of Windsor & Maidenhead

Suffolk

Telford & Wrekin

The Wirral

Annex B. Schools visited during this survey

Apley Wood Primary School

Argyle Primary School

Birchfield Community School

Birkenhead Christ Church CofE Primary School

Brettenham Primary School

Cuckoo Hall Primary School

Edith Neville Primary School

Ellington Primary School

Fulham Primary School

Hanford Hall Primary School

Langford Primary School

Liscard Primary School

Prince of Wales Primary School

Sidegate Primary School

St Ignatius' Catholic Primary School

Trinity Catholic Primary School

Wilbury Primary School

Withnell Fold Primary School

Worsthorne Primary School

Archbishop Blanche Church of England Voluntary Aided High School, a

Technology College

Broughton High School

Bushey Meads School

Childwall Comprehensive School

Copleston High School

Desborough School

Ercall Wood Technology College

Francis Bacon School

Fulham Cross Secondary School

Golden Hillock School and Specialist Sports College

Henry Compton Secondary School

Hamstead Hall School

Honley High School

Howden Clough Girls' School and Sixth Form Centre

Moor End Technology College

Moseley School, a Language College

Parliament Hill School

Pensby High School for Girls

Rhyddings High School

Sudbury Upper School and Arts College

The Burton Borough School

The Highfield School

South Camden Community School

South Wirral High School

Westborough High School

Westfield Community Technology College

Windsor Girls' School

Annex C. The thematic survey's methodology

A number of LEAs were approached to establish whether or not they would be prepared to host a visit from Ofsted inspectors for the purposes of the survey. Barring one, all had been judged to be good or better on their work on the function of combating racism, or subsequently promoting race equality (the latter function succeeded combating racism from January 2004).

Each of the 12 LEAs was asked to select schools for visits by inspectors that, in the view of the LEA, exhibited effective work on race equality in education. Fifty schools were visited, mainly primary and secondary.

Prior to the visits to the LEAs, inspectors examined a range of data and material, including PANDA and section 10 inspection reports on the schools; data on ethnicity and race-related incidents in the LEA's area; and documentation on initiatives introduced by schools or LEAs to promote race equality or to close gaps in attainment between groups of pupils.

During the visit to the LEA, inspectors conducted meetings with stakeholders and senior officers. In schools visited (typically four in each LEA) the inspectors held meetings with senior managers, teaching staff, pupils and stakeholders; and also observed lessons or events that were said to represent effective work on race equality. The evidence base also included material provided by schools and LEAs on site and prior to the visits.

At the end of each visit to an LEA, the inspection team fed back its views on the quality of the documentation and work observed, pointing out both strengths and areas for development. That verbal feedback was subsequently followed up by written feedback from the inspection team.

Annex D. Further reading

Birmingham LEA *Together we can stop bullying* 2001

Blair M & Bourne J, *Making the difference: teaching and learning strategies in successful multi-ethnic schools – research report RR59*, DfEE 1998

Cork, L Supporting Black pupils and parents Routledge 2004

Commission for Racial Equality *Learning for all: standards for race equality in schools* 2000

Department for Education & Skills and Ofsted *Focusing on achievement: making the most of the Ethnic Minority Achievement Grant* 2004

London Borough of Enfield - *Stand up to racism: LEA recommendations for managing racial incidents* 2000

Fryer, P Staying Power: the history of Black people in Britain Pluto 2002

Gillborn and Mirza, Educational inequality, Ofsted, November 2000

Hertfordshire CC *Dealing with racial harassment – a guide for Hertfordshire schools* 2001

Hertfordshire CC Curriculum guidelines for cultural diversity and race equality

Klein G & Travers P *Equal measure: ethnic minority and bilingual pupils in secondary schools* Trentham Books, 2004

Lancashire County Council *Guidelines and procedures for dealing with and reporting racist incidents in schools,* 2004

Ofsted *Achievement of Black Caribbean pupils: good Practice in secondary schools* 2002

Ofsted *Achievement of Black Caribbean Pupils: three successful primary schools* 2002

The Runnymede Trust, Complementing Teachers, 2003

Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead, *Equity and excellence: good practice in our schools*, 2001

This page is intentionally left blank



Sslamitupo, 36 Millenium Hause, Humber Read, London NW2 6DW (T) 0845 108 5101 (F) 0845 108 5102 (e) info@idamexpo.com Pa?gaege/443

Agenda Item 11

This page is intentionally left blank

Enthuse Educate Entertain

Enjoy Experience Encounter

IslamExpo

A fascinating journey into culture, history & civilisation

6th – 9th July at Alexandra Palace - London

'Promoting Inter-cultural dialogue & understanding'

IslamExpo is a unique celebration of the dynamism, diversity and depth of Islamic culture, history, civilisation and faith, which we hope will become an annual event.

Hosted in the picturesque Alexandra Palace, with stunning views across the whole of London, it is certain to attract a large and diverse audience from all ages and walks of life.

Over four consecutive days, our visitors will be inspired and entertained through an array of exhibitions and displays, films, concerts & live shows, lectures, workshops and much more.

In addition to the general public, the event will be attended by a multitude of honoured guests drawn from the international worlds of business, politics, sport, knowledge, culture and theology.

IslamExpo is a not for profit organisation based in the United Kingdom dedicated to enhancing understanding of Islam in Britain and building bridges between communities.

For the realisation of its mission, **IslamExpo** works in partnership with a host of high profile personalities and organisations both in the United Kingdom and across the world.

Mission Statements:

- Introduce the British public, Muslim and non-Muslim, to Islam as a global culture and faith that spans continents, races and languages.
- Shed light over the Islamic civilisation's great achievements in the various fields of knowledge; from science to technology and from art to literature.
- Combat the myths, misconceptions, and misunderstandings of Islam.
- Create stronger foundations for Muslims to understand their heritage and develop their identity as major pioneers of human civilisation, and an integral part of British society.
- Encourage positive interaction between Muslims and the different races and cultures of British society, working towards a more open, tolerant and pluralistic Britain.
- Promote multi-culturalism as an enrichment of British identity.

Main Features

- ❖ The Family Fun Zone: An exciting and diverse programme of games, amusing activities and live entertainment shows for families and children.
- ❖ The Knowledge Zone: An exciting, interactive journey through Islamic culture, history, and civilisation. Exploring a multitude of subjects that encompass art, botany, science, poetry, music and philosophy.
- ❖ The Global Village: A fascinating panorama of the colourful folklore, crafts, arts, and foods of the Muslim world from Morocco to Egypt, from China to India, and from Turkey to Nigeria.
- Live concert: Featuring the sounds of the Muslim world, ranging from the traditional to the modern, and performed by a host of prominent artists and entertainers.
- ❖ International conference: Attended by leading academics and experts on Islamic affairs and international politics; providing a forum for the discussion of the complex issues and challenges facing the Muslim World today.
- ❖ Film Festival: Screening some of the best films produced on Islamic culture, history and society bringing to life its diversity and richness.
- ❖ Financial forums: A financial conference encouraging economic cooperation between Britain and the Islamic world. To be attended by leading companies, businesses, and entrepreneurs from around the globe.
- Exhibits: A range of exhibitions highlighting Islamic arts, culture and science. A B2B showcase of organisations trading in the Islamic world. A shopping experience within a traditional souk (marketplace).

Page 48

- IslamExpo is a unique, omissible opportunity to promote your work, products or services.
- ❖ It is the only event of its kind, and will attract an exclusive mix of consumers and businessmen. As may as 50,000 visits to the full range of events are expected.
- Visitors will include both Muslims and non-Muslims, from home and abroad.
- ❖ It will be one of the UK's largest gatherings of Muslim consumers looking for opportunities to buy goods and services.
- ❖ Entrepreneurs from around the globe will attend looking for partnership and investment opportunities.
- IslamExpo represents the single most cost effective way of putting your message or product in front of a large and diverse community.

You can easily take part, organising a group, as an exhibitor or as a sponsor. Simply call 0845 108 5103 to discuss the range of options available to you.

This page is intentionally left blank